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Re:  MUR 7073 

 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 

Premier Radio Stations, LLC (“Premier”), by and through counsel undersigned, 
hereby responds to the Complaint filed with the Federal Elections Commission (FEC) on 
May 23, 2016, and to the letter from your office dated November 1, 2016.1 

 
For the following reasons, no action should be taken against Premier in response 

to the Complaint. 
 
First, the Complaint does not clearly identify Premier as a respondent, or allege a 

violation by Premier (of any kind, much less a violation of “a statute or regulation over 
which the Commission has jurisdiction”), as required by 11 C.F.R. § 111.4(d)(1). Rather, 
the Complaint was filed against “Meluskey for US Senate Committee,” and it alleges that 
Mr. Alex Meluskey – who ran unsuccessfully as a candidate for the United States Senate 
in the Republican primary this summer – “failed to state his source of funds in self-
financing his campaign and shows gross disregard for the FEC laws…”  

 
Premier is an AM radio station operating under the call-sign, “KFNX 1100 AM.” 

The Complaint does reference Premier obliquely, by alleging that “He [Mr. Meluskey] 
does weekly radio shows in the name of Fair Tax Group and has been using these shows 

                                                 
1 Other than the November 1st letter and its attachments—which consisted of a Complaint filed 
with the FEC on May 23, 2016; a “Description of Preliminary Procedures…”; and a blank 
“Designation of Counsel Statement”—Premier has received no other documents from the FEC in 
reference to this matter. 
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for his campaign, however there has been no disclosure as to who pays for this radio 
time. Working with three different radio stations one hour each per week, there would 
appear to be a value in advertising that should be disclosed someplace.” 

 
First, Premier is a “brokered” radio station that sells airtime for talk shows. It 

enters into contracts with the buyer(s) for each show, under which Premier is paid 
monthly, and at market rates, for the use of its airtime. On May 25, 2015, Mr. Meluskey 
purchased one hour on Saturdays at 4:00 p.m., as well as additional promotions and 
commercials for his show throughout the week, for the total of $433.33 per month, 
month-to-month (as set forth in his contract with Premier, attached and incorporated 
herein). Mr. Melusky has paid Premier under the contract since its inception. This is the 
same rate that other buyers (including non-political buyers) pay for Premier’s airtime on 
the weekend between 4pm and 8pm, and that Premier has offered and agreed to with 
other buyers in the past. In compliance with 47 U.S.C.A. § 315(b), it is Premier’s 
cheapest rate (i.e., it “does not exceed the charges made for comparable use of the 
station,” and it is the “the lowest unit charge of the station for the same class and amount 
of time for the same period” “during the forty-five days preceding the date of a 
primary”). 

 
To the extent that the Complaint alleges violations of reporting requirements 

(under e.g. 52 U.S.C.A. § 30104 et seq.), Premier is of course not subject to such 
requirements, as it is not a political committee or candidate or otherwise affiliated with 
Mr. Meluskey. 

 
While not specifically alleged by the Complaint, Premier is also not in violation 

of 52 U.S.C.A. § 30116, which provides that “no person shall make contributions to any 
candidate and his authorized political committees with respect to any election for Federal 
office which, in the aggregate, exceed $2,000…” Premier has made no contribution to 
Mr. Meluskey of any kind. Mr. Meluskey has always paid for his airtime in full, at 
market rates, and on a monthly basis. Finally, Premier takes no position as to whether Mr. 
Meluskey and/or his committee(s) have complied with any/all reporting requirements to 
which they may have been subject under federal or state law. 

 
 
 
 

 
. . . 
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If you have any other questions, then please do not hesitate to contact me at 
jackw@wb-law.com, or (602) 606-2810. A signed verification from Francis Battaglia, 
Premier’s President, is also attached hereto. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
                                               John “Jack” D. Wilenchik, Esq. 
                                               Arizona Bar License No. 029353 

 
 
attachments:  
Executed Broadcast Agreement between KFNX 1100 and  
Andrew Meluskey dated May 25, 2015 

  












